Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: August 5, 2016 ACCEPTED: September 5, 2016 PUBLISHED: September 12, 2016

# Higgs pair productions in the CP-violating two-Higgs-doublet model

# Ligong Bian<sup>a</sup> and Ning Chen<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Physics, Chongqing University, Chongqing 401331, China <sup>b</sup> Department of Modern Physics,

University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, Anhui 230026, China

*E-mail:* lgbycl@cqu.edu.cn, chenning@ustc.edu.cn

ABSTRACT: In this work, we study the SM-like Higgs pair productions in the framework of the general CP-violating two-Higgs-doublet model. Several constraints are imposed to the model sequentially, including the SM-like Higgs boson signal fits, the precise measurements of the electric dipole moments, the perturbative unitarity and stability bounds to the Higgs potential, and the most recent LHC searches for the heavy Higgs bosons. We show how the CP-violating mixing angles are related to the Higgs cubic self couplings in this setup. Based on these constraints, we suggest benchmark models for the future high-energy collider searches for the Higgs pair productions. The  $e^+e^-$  colliders operating at  $\sqrt{s} = (500 \text{ GeV}, 1 \text{ TeV})$  are capable of measuring the Higgs cubic self couplings of the benchmark models directly. Afterwards, we estimate the cross sections of the resonance contributions to the Higgs pair productions for the benchmark models at the future LHC and SppC/Fcc-hh runs. Other possible decay modes for the heavy Higgs bosons are also discussed.

KEYWORDS: Beyond Standard Model, CP violation, Higgs Physics

ARXIV EPRINT: 1607.02703



# Contents

1	Introduction				
<b>2</b>	The CPV 2HDM	3			
	2.1 The CPV 2HDM potential	3			
	2.2 The couplings in the CPV 2HDM	6			
3	The constraints in The CPV 2HDM	8			
	3.1 The 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson constraint	8			
	3.2 The eEDM constraints	8			
	3.3 The unitarity and stability constraints	10			
	3.4 The LHC searches for heavy Higgs bosons	12			
	3.4.1 The heavy Higgs productions	12			
	3.4.2 The heavy Higgs decays	12			
	3.4.3 The experimental search bounds	13			
	3.5 The EW precision constraints	14			
4	Higgs pair productions at the colliders				
	4.1 The Higgs cubic self couplings	15			
	4.2 The precise measurement of $\lambda_{111}$ at the future $e^+e^-$ colliders	16			
	4.3 The $pp \to h_1 h_1$ in the CPV 2HDM	17			
	4.4 Other channels	20			
<b>5</b>	Conclusion	21			

# 1 Introduction

The discovery of the 125 GeV Higgs boson [1, 2] at the LHC runs at  $7\oplus 8$  TeV validate Higgs mechanism for the spontaneous breaking of the electroweak gauge symmetry (EWSB). The current LHC measurements of the Higgs boson couplings to the SM fermions, gauge bosons, and loop-induced couplings to photons and gluons reach the precision of ~ 10-20 % level. Besides, it is important to probe the Higgs self couplings to confirm the mechanism of the EWSB. This can be done by looking for the Higgs pair productions at both high-energy  $e^+e^-$  and pp colliders. The current LHC searches for the Higgs pair productions focus on the leading production channel of gluon-gluon fusion (ggF), as well as the promising final states of  $b\bar{b}\gamma\gamma$ . Some of the detailed studies at the LHC can be found in refs. [3–13]. From the experimental side, it is well-known that several future high-energy collider programs, such as the International Linear Collider (ILC) [14] in Japan, the Future eplus-eminus/hadronhadron Cicular Collider (Fcc-ee/Fcc-hh) [15] at CERN, and the Circular electron-positron Collider (CEPC)/ Super-*pp*-Collider(SppC) [16] in China, have been proposed in recent years. A key physical goal for these different high-energy collider programs is try to probe the shape of the Higgs potential. Some of the recent studies of the Higgs pair searches at the future colliders can be found in refs. [17–29].

In many of new physics models beyond the SM (BSM), the Higgs sector is extended with several scalar multiplets. The two-Higgs-doublet model (2HDM) is one attractive alternative to the SM, which allows for new phenomena in the scalar sector [30]. To discover another Higgs doublet in the future LHC experiments, a lot of efforts have been taken for the  $t\bar{t}$  searches with the novel techniques [31–34], the decays of hZ final states [35], and the charged Higgs searches [36] as well.<sup>1</sup> Most of the current studies focus on the CPconserving (CPC) version of 2HDM. Originally, the 2HDM was motivated to offer extra CP-violation (CPV) sources from the scalar sector [39]. Recently, it was also pointed out that the CPV 2HDM is likely to realize the EW baryogenesis [40], which is one of the most popular solutions to the baryon asymmetry in the Universe. Three neutral Higgs bosons, denoted as  $(h_1, h_2, h_3)$ , mix with each other in the CPV 2HDM. There are two angles of  $\alpha_b$  and  $\alpha_c$  to parametrize the size of the CPV effects, and the CPC limit can be easily restored by taking  $\alpha_b = \alpha_c = 0$ . The 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson, often chosen to be  $h_1$  in the spectrum, is a mixture of both CP-even and CP-odd states [41–45]. Such CPV couplings for the SM-like Higgs bosons are subject to the constraints from the searches for the electric dipole moments (EDMs) of the neutron, atoms, and molecules.<sup>2</sup> One of the most stringent one is from the ACME collaboration [48], where they reported an upper limit on the electron EDM (eEDM) of  $|d_e/e| < 8.7 \times 10^{-29}$  cm. This bound can be translated to constrain the size of the CPV mixing through the Barr-Zee type diagrams. More specifically, we find that the sizes of the CPV mixings also determine the sizes of the Higgs cubic self couplings. Together with other existing constraints to the CPV 2HDM, which include the 125 GeV Higgs boson signal strengths, the perturbative unitarity and stability of the Higgs potential, and the constraints from the LHC searches for the heavy Higgs bosons, one can find the constraints to the heavy Higgs boson mass ranges and the sizes of the Higgs cubic self couplings. Therefore, the cross sections of the Higgs pair productions in the CPV 2HDM can be envisioned for the future experimental searches at the LHC and the SppC.

This paper aims to study the Higgs pair productions in the framework of the CPV 2HDM, including the precise measurement of the SM-like Higgs cubic self couplings at the  $e^+e^-$  colliders, and the resonance contributions in the gluon-gluon fusion (ggF) production channel at the pp colliders. The layout of this paper is described as follows. In section 2, we review the setup of the CPV 2HDM. With the assumptions of the degenerate heavy Higgs boson mass spectrum, we take the simplified parameter sets of  $\alpha = -\pi/4$ . We also obtain the gauge couplings, Yukawa couplings, and the self couplings for Higgs bosons in the physical basis. In section 3, we impose series of constraints to the CPV 2HDM parameter space. The combined constraints of 125 GeV Higgs signals and the eEDM bounds point

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See also refs. [37, 38] for recent summaries of various search modes in the 2HDM at the LHC 14 TeV experiments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See, e.g., refs. [46, 47] for recent reviews.

to the  $t_{\beta} \sim 1$  parameter choice. The size of the CPV mixing angle  $|\alpha_b|$  is also bounded from above. For the CPV 2HDM-I, the CPV mixing is stringently constrained to be  $|\alpha_b| \lesssim 5 \times 10^{-3}$ , which is quite approaching to the CPC limit. For the CPV 2HDM-II, the constraints to the CPV mixing are much relaxed, and we focus on this case for the Higgs pair productions. The constraints from the unitarity, the stability, and the current LHC 8 TeV searches for the heavy Higgs bosons further restrict the allowed mass ranges of the heavy Higgs bosons and the soft  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -breaking mass term of  $m_{\text{soft}}$ . The main results of the Higgs pair productions in the CPV 2HDM are presented in section 4. By combining the current constraints, we show that the variations of the Higgs cubic self couplings are controlled by the size of the CPV mixing angle  $|\alpha_b|$  and the soft mass term  $m_{\text{soft}}$  in the 2HDM potential. A set of benchmark models are given with the fixed CPV mixing angles and the maximally allowed soft mass terms. Under the small CPV limit, the Higgs cubic self coupling of  $\lambda_{111}$  for the SM-like Higgs boson tends to the SM predicted value of  $\lambda_{hhh}^{SM} \simeq 32$  GeV, and the resonance contributions become negligible as well. The corresponding Higgs pair production cross sections will tend to the predictions for the SM case. We estimate the physical opportunities of the precise measurement of the SM-like Higgs cubic self coupling  $\lambda_{111}$  at the future high-energy  $e^+e^-$  colliders, with focus on the  $e^+e^- \to hhZ$  process at the  $\sqrt{s} = 500$  GeV run. On the other hand, the heavy resonance contributions to the Higgs pair productions can become dominant at the pp colliders. The cross sections for the possible experimental search modes of  $h_1h_1 \rightarrow (b\bar{b}\gamma\gamma, b\bar{b}WW)$  are estimated for both LHC 14 TeV and SppC/Fcc-hh 100 TeV runs. In addition, several other possible search modes of  $(W^+W^-, ZZ, hZ)$  are also mentioned. The conclusions and discussions are given in section 5.

# 2 The CPV 2HDM

### 2.1 The CPV 2HDM potential

In the general 2HDM, two Higgs doublets of  $(\Phi_1, \Phi_2) \in 2_{+1}$  are introduced in the scalar sector. For simplicity, we consider the soft breaking of a discrete  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  symmetry, under which two Higgs doublets transform as  $(\Phi_1, \Phi_2) \rightarrow (-\Phi_1, \Phi_2)$ . The corresponding Lagrangian is expressed as

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i=1,2} |D\Phi_i|^2 - V(\Phi_1, \Phi_2), \qquad (2.1a)$$

$$V(\Phi_{1}, \Phi_{2}) = m_{11}^{2} |\Phi_{1}|^{2} + m_{22}^{2} |\Phi_{2}|^{2} - (m_{12}^{2} \Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} + H.c.) + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{1} |\Phi_{1}|^{4} + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{2} |\Phi_{2}|^{4} + \lambda_{3} |\Phi_{1}|^{2} |\Phi_{2}|^{2} + \lambda_{4} |\Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \Big[ \lambda_{5} (\Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2})^{2} + H.c. \Big], \qquad (2.1b)$$

with  $(m_{12}^2, \lambda_5)$  being complex and all other parameters being real for the CPV 2HDM. After the EWSB, two Higgs doublets  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$  in the unitarity gauge can be expressed as

$$\Phi_1 = \begin{pmatrix} -s_\beta H^+ \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v_1 + H_1^0 - is_\beta A^0) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \Phi_2 = \begin{pmatrix} c_\beta H^+ \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v_2 e^{i\xi} + H_2^0 + ic_\beta A^0) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.2)$$

where  $v_1^2 + v_2^2 = v^2 = (\sqrt{2} G_F)^{-1}$ . The ratio between two Higgs VEVs is parametrized as

$$t_{\beta} \equiv \tan \beta = \frac{v_2}{v_1}, \qquad (2.3)$$

and  $\xi$  represents the relative phase between two Higgs doublets. The imaginary components of  $m_{12}^2$  and  $\lambda_5$  are the source of CP violation, which lead to the mixings among three neutral states as  $(h_1, h_2, h_3)^T = \mathcal{R} (H_1^0, H_2^0, A^0)^T$ . Explicitly, the  $3 \times 3$  mixing matrix is expressed as [50]

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_{23}(\alpha_c) \mathcal{R}_{13}(\alpha_b) \mathcal{R}_{12} \left( \alpha + \frac{\pi}{2} \right)$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} -s_\alpha c_{\alpha_b} & c_\alpha c_{\alpha_b} & s_{\alpha_b} \\ s_\alpha s_{\alpha_b} s_{\alpha_c} - c_\alpha c_{\alpha_c} - s_\alpha c_{\alpha_c} - c_\alpha s_{\alpha_b} s_{\alpha_c} & c_{\alpha_b} s_{\alpha_c} \\ s_\alpha s_{\alpha_b} c_{\alpha_c} + c_\alpha s_{\alpha_c} & s_\alpha s_{\alpha_c} - c_\alpha s_{\alpha_b} c_{\alpha_c} & c_{\alpha_b} c_{\alpha_c} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.4)

The angle  $\alpha$  parametrizes the mixing between two CP-even states of  $(H_1^0, H_2^0)$ . The CPV mixing angles of  $\alpha_b$  and  $\alpha_c$  parametrize the CP mixings between  $(H_1^0, A^0)$  and  $(H_2^0, A^0)$ , respectively. Their ranges are taken as

$$-\frac{\pi}{2} \le \alpha_b \le \frac{\pi}{2}, \qquad -\frac{\pi}{2} \le \alpha_c \le \frac{\pi}{2}.$$
(2.5)

In the CPC limit, one has  $\alpha_b = \alpha_c = 0$ . Correspondingly,  $\mathcal{R}$  becomes block diagonal, and  $(h_1, h_2)$  are purely CP-even states.

By minimizing the CPV 2HDM potential, one obtains the following relations for the mass parameters

$$m_{11}^{2} = \operatorname{Re}(m_{12}^{2}e^{i\xi})t_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \Big[\lambda_{1}v^{2}c_{\beta}^{2} + (\lambda_{3} + \lambda_{4})v^{2}s_{\beta}^{2} + \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi})v^{2}s_{\beta}^{2}\Big], \quad (2.6a)$$

$$m_{22}^{2} = \operatorname{Re}(m_{12}^{2}e^{i\xi})/t_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \Big[\lambda_{2}v^{2}s_{\beta}^{2} + (\lambda_{3} + \lambda_{4})v^{2}c_{\beta}^{2} + \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi})v^{2}c_{\beta}^{2}\Big], \quad (2.6b)$$

$$Im(m_{12}^2 e^{i\xi}) = \frac{1}{2} v^2 s_\beta c_\beta Im(\lambda_5 e^{2i\xi}).$$
(2.6c)

The physical masses of  $(M_1, M_2, M_3, M_{\pm})$  in the scalar spectrum are obtained from the 2HDM potential together with the minimization conditions given in eqs. (2.6). The charged Higgs boson mass squared reads

$$M_{\pm}^{2} = \frac{1}{s_{\beta}c_{\beta}} \operatorname{Re}(m_{12}^{2}e^{i\xi}) - \frac{1}{2} \Big[\lambda_{4} + \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi})\Big]v^{2}.$$
(2.7)

The mass squared matrix for the neutral sector can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{M}_{0}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{1}c_{\beta}^{2} + \nu s_{\beta}^{2} & (\lambda_{345} - \nu)s_{\beta}c_{\beta} & -\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{Im}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi})s_{\beta} \\ (\lambda_{345} - \nu)s_{\beta}c_{\beta} & \lambda_{2}s_{\beta}^{2} + \nu c_{\beta}^{2} & -\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{Im}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi})c_{\beta} \\ -\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{Im}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi})s_{\beta} & -\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{Im}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi})c_{\beta} - \mathrm{Re}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi}) + \nu \end{pmatrix} v^{2},$$
(2.8)

with the short-handed notations of

$$\lambda_{345} \equiv \lambda_3 + \lambda_4 + \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_5 e^{2i\xi}), \qquad \nu \equiv \frac{\operatorname{Re}(m_{12}^2 e^{i\xi})}{v^2 s_\beta c_\beta}.$$
(2.9)

By diagonalizing the mass squared matrix with the mixing matrix in eq. (2.4), one has

$$\mathcal{M}_0^2 = \mathcal{R}^T \operatorname{diag}(M_1^2, M_2^2, M_3^2) \mathcal{R}, \qquad (2.10)$$

from which one further obtains the relations to trade the quartic Higgs self couplings into the physical inputs as follows

$$\lambda_1 = \frac{M_1^2 \mathcal{R}_{11}^2 + M_2^2 \mathcal{R}_{21}^2 + M_3^2 \mathcal{R}_{31}^2}{v^2 c_{\beta}^2} - \nu t_{\beta}^2, \qquad (2.11a)$$

$$\lambda_2 = \frac{M_1^2 \mathcal{R}_{12}^2 + M_2^2 \mathcal{R}_{22}^2 + M_3^2 \mathcal{R}_{32}^2}{v^2 s_\beta^2} - \nu / t_\beta^2, \qquad (2.11b)$$

$$\lambda_3 = -\nu + \frac{2M_{\pm}^2}{v^2} + \frac{M_1^2 \mathcal{R}_{11} \mathcal{R}_{12} + M_2^2 \mathcal{R}_{21} \mathcal{R}_{22} + M_3^2 \mathcal{R}_{31} \mathcal{R}_{32}}{v^2 s_\beta c_\beta}, \qquad (2.11c)$$

$$\lambda_4 = 2\nu - \frac{2M_{\pm}^2}{v^2} - \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_5 e^{2i\xi}), \qquad (2.11d)$$

$$\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_5 e^{2i\xi}) = \nu - \frac{M_1^2 \mathcal{R}_{13}^2 + M_2^2 \mathcal{R}_{23}^2 + M_3^2 \mathcal{R}_{33}^2}{v^2}, \qquad (2.11e)$$

$$\operatorname{Im}(\lambda_{5}e^{2i\xi}) = -\frac{1}{v^{2}s_{\beta}c_{\beta}} \Big[ (M_{1}^{2}\mathcal{R}_{11}\mathcal{R}_{13} + M_{2}^{2}\mathcal{R}_{21}\mathcal{R}_{23} + M_{3}^{2}\mathcal{R}_{31}\mathcal{R}_{33})c_{\beta} + (M_{1}^{2}\mathcal{R}_{12}\mathcal{R}_{13} + M_{2}^{2}\mathcal{R}_{22}\mathcal{R}_{23} + M_{3}^{2}\mathcal{R}_{32}\mathcal{R}_{33})s_{\beta} \Big] . \quad (2.11f)$$

For simplicity, we can always work in the basis where  $\xi = 0$  by using the rephasing invariance. We also assume that  $\operatorname{Re}(m_{12}^2) \ge 0$ , and use the notation for the soft mass term as

$$m_{\rm soft}^2 \equiv \operatorname{Re}(m_{12}^2) \,. \tag{2.12}$$

The elements of  $(\mathcal{M}_0^2)_{13}$  and  $(\mathcal{M}_0^2)_{23}$  in eq. (2.8) provide the CPV mixings, which are related via  $t_\beta$  as

$$(\mathcal{M}_0^2)_{13} = (\mathcal{M}_0^2)_{23} t_\beta \,. \tag{2.13}$$

This leads to one additional constraint between mixing angles and mass eigenvalues as follows [50]

$$(M_1^2 - M_2^2 s_{\alpha_c}^2 - M_3^2 c_{\alpha_c}^2) s_{\alpha_b} (1 + t_\alpha) = (M_2^2 - M_3^2) (t_\alpha t_\beta - 1) s_{\alpha_c} c_{\alpha_c} .$$
(2.14)

In the analysis below, we always identify  $h_1$  as the SM-like Higgs boson with mass of 125 GeV. We further simplify the parameter inputs by requiring all heavy Higgs boson masses are degenerate, i.e.,  $M_2 = M_3 = M_{\pm} \equiv M$ . This was usually taken to relax the constraints from the electroweak precision measurements. The constraint of eq. (2.14) among the mixing angles becomes

$$\alpha_b = 0, \qquad \text{or} \quad t_\alpha = -1. \tag{2.15}$$

Below, we will always take  $\alpha = -\pi/4$ .<sup>3</sup> The input parameters of  $(\beta, \alpha_b)$  will be determined through other constraints. Since  $\alpha_c$  determines the size of the CPV mixing between two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The study of the phenomenology with the CPV mixings of  $|\alpha_b| \ll |\alpha_c|$  is carried out in a separate work [51].

mass-degenerate Higgs bosons of  $h_2$  and  $h_3$  in our setup, one can anticipate that  $\alpha_c$  becomes unphysical in physical processes to be studied below. Without loss of generality, we always take  $\alpha_c = 0$  for simplicity.

Thus, the set of input parameters can be summarized as follows

$$M_1 = 125 \text{ GeV}, \qquad M_2 = M_3 = M_{\pm} = M, \qquad m_{\text{soft}}$$
  
 $\alpha = -\frac{\pi}{4}, \qquad t_{\beta}, \qquad \alpha_b, \qquad \alpha_c = 0.$  (2.16)

Analogous to the CPC version of the general 2HDM, the parameter choice of  $\beta - \alpha = \pi/2$  corresponds to the so-called "alignment limit". This can be achieved when taking into account the signal fit to the 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson  $h_1$ , as shown later. By further combining with the eEDM constraints, we will fix the parameters of  $t_{\beta}$  and  $\alpha_b$  and constraint two other mass parameters of M and  $m_{\text{soft}}$  for our later discussions.

#### 2.2 The couplings in the CPV 2HDM

For simplicity, we focus on the 2HDMs where the Yukawa sector has a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  symmetry and  $\Phi_1$ and  $\Phi_2$  each only gives mass to up-type quarks or down-type quarks and charged leptons. This is sufficient to suppress tree-level flavor changing processes mediated by the neutral Higgs bosons. The Yukawa couplings for the 2HDM-I and 2HDM-II read (and suppressing the CKM mixing),

$$\mathcal{L} = \begin{cases} -\left(\frac{c_{\alpha}}{s_{\beta}}\frac{m_{u}}{v}\right)\overline{Q}_{L}\tilde{\Phi}_{2}u_{R} - \left(\frac{c_{\alpha}}{s_{\beta}}\frac{m_{d}}{v}\right)\overline{Q}_{L}\Phi_{2}d_{R} + \text{h.c.} & 2\text{HDM} - \text{I} \\ -\left(\frac{c_{\alpha}}{s_{\beta}}\frac{m_{u}}{v}\right)\overline{Q}_{L}\tilde{\Phi}_{2}u_{R} + \left(\frac{s_{\alpha}}{c_{\beta}}\frac{m_{d}}{v}\right)\overline{Q}_{L}\Phi_{1}d_{R} + \text{h.c.} & 2\text{HDM} - \text{II}, \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

where  $Q_L^T = (u_L, d_L)$  and  $\tilde{\Phi}_2 \equiv i\sigma_2 \Phi_2^*$ . For both cases, the charged lepton Yukawa coupling has the same form as that of the down-type quarks. Therefore, we can express the couplings between neutral Higgs bosons and the fermions and gauge bosons in the mass eigenbasis

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left[ -m_f \left( c_{f,i} \bar{f} f + \tilde{c}_{f,i} \bar{f} i \gamma_5 f \right) + a_i \left( 2m_W^2 W_\mu W^\mu + m_Z^2 Z_\mu Z^\mu \right) \right] \frac{h_i}{v} .$$
(2.18)

When  $c_{f,i}\tilde{c}_{f,i} \neq 0$  or  $a_i\tilde{c}_{f,i} \neq 0$ , the mass eigenstate  $h_i$  couples to both CP-even and CPodd operators, so the CP symmetry is violated. The coefficients of  $c_{f,i}$ ,  $\tilde{c}_{f,i}$  and  $a_i$  can be derived from the elements of the rotation matrix  $\mathcal{R}$  defined in eq. (2.4), which were also previously obtained in refs. [52–54]. Here, we summarize their explicit expressions under the alignment limit in table. 1. In this alignment limit of  $\beta - \alpha = \pi/2$ , the Higgs Yukawa couplings and Higgs gauge couplings are determined by the CPV mixing angles of  $(\alpha_b, \alpha_c)$ and  $t_{\beta}$ . By taking the CPC limit of  $\alpha_b = \alpha_c = 0$ , it is evident that  $(h_1, h_2)$  have the purely CP-even Yukawa couplings of  $c_{f,i}$ , while  $h_3$  has the purely CP-odd Yukawa couplings of  $\tilde{c}_{f,i}$ . The previous studies of the collider measurements of the CPV in the Higgs Yukawa couplings can be found in refs. [43, 55–62].

	2HDM-I	2HDM-II
$c_{u,1}$	$c_{lpha_b}$	$c_{lpha_b}$
$c_{d,1} = c_{\ell,1}$	$c_{lpha_b}$	$c_{lpha_b}$
$\tilde{c}_{u,1}$	$-s_{lpha_b}/t_eta$	$-s_{lpha_b}/t_eta$
$\tilde{c}_{d,1} = \tilde{c}_{\ell,1}$	$s_{lpha_b}/t_eta$	$-s_{lpha_b}  t_eta$
$a_1$	$c_{lpha_b}$	$c_{lpha_b}$
$c_{u,2}$	$c_{\alpha_c}/t_{\beta} - s_{\alpha_b}s_{\alpha_c}$	$c_{\alpha_c}/t_{\beta} - s_{\alpha_b}s_{\alpha_c}$
$c_{d,2} = c_{\ell,2}$	$c_{lpha_c}/t_eta - s_{lpha_b}s_{lpha_c}$	$-s_{\alpha_b}s_{\alpha_c} - c_{\alpha_c} t_{\beta}$
$\tilde{c}_{u,2}$	$-c_{lpha_b}s_{lpha_c}/t_eta$	$-c_{lpha_b}s_{lpha_c}/t_eta$
$\tilde{c}_{d,2} = \tilde{c}_{\ell,2}$	$c_{lpha_b}s_{lpha_c}/t_eta$	$-c_{\alpha_b}  s_{\alpha_c}  t_{\beta}$
$a_2$	$-s_{lpha_b}s_{lpha_c}$	$-s_{lpha_b}s_{lpha_c}$
$c_{u,3}$	$-s_{\alpha_c}/t_{\beta} - s_{\alpha_b}c_{\alpha_c}$	$-s_{\alpha_c}/t_{\beta} - s_{\alpha_b}c_{\alpha_c}$
$c_{d,3} = c_{\ell,3}$	$-s_{\alpha_c}/t_{\beta} - s_{\alpha_b}c_{\alpha_c}$	$-s_{\alpha_b}c_{\alpha_c} + s_{\alpha_c} t_{\beta}$
$\tilde{c}_{u,3}$	$-c_{lpha_b}c_{lpha_c}/t_eta$	$-c_{lpha_b}c_{lpha_c}/t_eta$
$\tilde{c}_{d,3} = \tilde{c}_{\ell,3}$	$c_{lpha_b}c_{lpha_c}/t_eta$	$-c_{\alpha_b}c_{\alpha_c} t_{\beta}$
$a_3$	$-s_{lpha_b}c_{lpha_c}$	$-s_{\alpha_b}c_{\alpha_c}$

Table 1. The SM fermion and gauge boson couplings to Higgs mass eigenstates in the alignment of  $\beta - \alpha = \pi/2$ .

By extracting the cubic terms in the scalar potential eq. (2.1b), we can obtain the Higgs cubic self-interacting terms. The neutral part of the cubic terms are expressed as follows in the basis of  $(H_1^0, H_2^0, A^0)$ 

$$-\mathcal{L}_{3s}/v = \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{1}c_{\beta}(H_{1}^{0})^{3} + \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{2}s_{\beta}(H_{2}^{0})^{3} + \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{345} \Big[c_{\beta}H_{1}^{0}(H_{2}^{0})^{2} + s_{\beta}H_{2}^{0}(H_{1}^{0})^{2}\Big] + \frac{1}{2}\Big\{c_{\beta}\Big[\lambda_{1}s_{\beta}^{2} + \lambda_{345}c_{\beta}^{2} - 2\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{5})\Big]H_{1}^{0} + s_{\beta}\Big[\lambda_{2}c_{\beta}^{2} + \lambda_{345}s_{\beta}^{2} - 2\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{5})\Big]H_{2}^{0}\Big\}(A^{0})^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Im}(\lambda_{5})\Big\{2H_{1}^{0}H_{2}^{0}A^{0} + s_{\beta}c_{\beta}\Big[(H_{1}^{0})^{2} + (H_{2}^{0})^{2} - (A^{0})^{2}\Big]\Big\}A^{0}.$$
(2.19)

From these terms, one can readily obtain the cubic interactions in terms of the mass eigenstates of  $(h_1, h_2, h_3)$  by using the orthogonal mixing matrix  $\mathcal{R}$  from eq. (2.4). Throughout our discussions, we define the Higgs cubic self couplings of  $\lambda_{ijk}$  (i, j, k = 1, 2, 3) to be the coefficients of the  $h_i h_j h_k$  term from eq. (2.19)

$$\lambda_{ijk} \equiv \frac{1}{S!} \frac{\partial^3 \mathcal{L}_{3s}}{\partial h_i \,\partial h_j \,\partial h_k}, \qquad (2.20)$$

where the symmetry factors are such that S! = 3! = 6 for i = j = k, S! = 2 for  $i = j \neq k$ , and S = 1 for  $i \neq j \neq k$ . A general derivation of the Higgs cubic self couplings in the CPV 2HDM was previously studied in refs. [63–65]. The explicit expressions of  $\lambda_{ijk}$ are tedious, while they can be greatly simplified with the fixed parameters through the following discussions.

# 3 The constraints in The CPV 2HDM

#### 3.1 The 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson constraint

In the CPV 2HDM, the productions and decay rates of the 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson  $h_1$  are controlled by both CP-even couplings of  $c_{f,1}$  and CP-odd couplings of  $\tilde{c}_{f,1}$ . The production cross sections and decay rates are rescaled from the SM one as follows,

$$\frac{\sigma[gg \to h_1]}{\sigma[gg \to h_{\rm SM}]} \approx \frac{(1.03 \, c_{u,1} - 0.06 \, c_{d,1})^2 + (1.57 \, \tilde{c}_{u,1} - 0.06 \, \tilde{c}_{d,1})^2}{(1.03 - 0.06)^2} \,, \tag{3.1a}$$

$$\frac{\Gamma[h_1 \to \gamma \gamma]}{\Gamma[h_{\rm SM} \to \gamma \gamma]} \approx \frac{(0.23 \, c_{u,1} - 1.04 \, a_1)^2 + (0.35 \, \tilde{c}_{u,1})^2}{(0.23 - 1.04)^2} \,, \tag{3.1b}$$

$$\frac{\sigma[VV \to h_1]}{\sigma[VV \to h_{\rm SM}]} = \frac{\sigma[V^* \to Vh_1]}{\sigma[V^* \to Vh_{\rm SM}]} = \frac{\Gamma[h_1 \to VV^*]}{\Gamma[h_{\rm SM} \to VV^*]} = a_1^2, \qquad (3.1c)$$

$$\frac{\Gamma[h_1 \to b\bar{b}]}{\Gamma[h_{\rm SM} \to b\bar{b}]} = \frac{\Gamma[h_1 \to \tau\tau]}{\Gamma[h_{\rm SM} \to \tau\tau]} \approx c_{d,1}^2 + \tilde{c}_{d,1}^2.$$
(3.1d)

For the production cross sections and decay rates of the SM Higgs boson, we use the results from the LHC Higgs Working Group given in refs. [66, 67]. The LHC signal strengths of the SM-like Higgs boson in the presence of the CPV were discussed in refs. [52–54, 68–75]. From table. 1, one notes that the relevant Yukawa couplings of  $(c_{f,1}, \tilde{c}_{f,1})$  and the Higgs gauge couplings of  $a_1$  are only controlled by the Higgs VEV ratio of  $t_{\beta}$  as well as the CPV mixing angle of  $\alpha_b$ . The heavy Higgs bosons in the spectrum are either irrelevant or negligible for the signal fit of  $h_1$ . Based on the most recent LHC measurements of the 125 GeV signal strengths [76–81], we fit the signal strength of  $h_1$  on the  $(t_{\beta}, |\alpha_b|)$  plane and present the results with the eEDM constraints later.

#### 3.2 The eEDM constraints

The ACME experiment [48], which searches for an energy shift of ThO molecules due to an external electric field, set stringent experimental bound to the eEDM.<sup>4</sup> The bound reads

$$\left|\frac{d_e}{e}\right| < 8.7 \times 10^{-29} \,\mathrm{cm}\,.$$
 (3.2)

The eEDM constraints to the CPV 2HDM-II were previously studied in the refs. [40, 53]. The effective Lagrangian term is given as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} = -\frac{i}{2} d_e \bar{e} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \gamma_5 e F^{\mu\nu} = i \frac{e \delta_e m_e}{v^2} \bar{e} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \gamma_5 e F^{\mu\nu} , \qquad (3.3)$$

after integrating out the internal heavy degrees of freedoms. The constraint in eq. (3.2) can be converted to the bounds of the dimensionless Wilson coefficient of  $\delta_e$  in eq. (3.3) such as

$$\frac{2m_e}{v^2}|\delta_e| < 8.7 \times 10^{-29} \,\mathrm{cm}\,. \tag{3.4}$$



Figure 1. Left: the eEDM from the Barr-Zee type diagrams with the  $h_i V_{\mu\nu} V^{\mu\nu}$  or  $h_i V_{\mu\nu} \tilde{V}^{\mu\nu}$  operators (with  $V_{\mu\nu} = F_{\mu\nu}/Z_{\mu\nu}$ ), and the CPV couplings between the neutral Higgs bosons  $h_i$  and the electron. Right: the eEDM from the  $W^{\pm}H^{\mp}$  interactions and the CPV couplings for the charged Higgs bosons.



**Figure 2**. The signal strength fit to the 125 GeV Higgs boson  $h_1$  and the eEDM constraint (lightblue shaded region) on the  $(t_\beta, |\alpha_b|)$  plane, left panel: CPV 2HDM-I, right panel: CPV 2HDM-II. The green and yellow regions correspond to the  $1\sigma$  and  $2\sigma$  allowed regions for the LHC  $7 \oplus 8$  TeV signal fit to the  $h_1$  in the CPV 2HDM.

In the CPV 2HDM, the Wilson coefficient  $\delta_e$  are contributed by the two-loop Barr-Zee type  $h_i\gamma\gamma(h_iZ\gamma)$  diagrams [82], and the  $H^{\pm}W^{\mp}\gamma$  diagrams, as depicted in figure 1. The  $h_i\gamma\gamma(h_iZ\gamma)$  diagrams include the contributions from: (i) the top-quark loops, (ii) the W-boson and the NGB loops, and (iii) the charged Higgs boson loops. The total contributions can be summarized as follows

$$\delta_e = (\delta_e)_t^{h_i \gamma \gamma} + (\delta_e)_W^{h_i \gamma \gamma} + (\delta_e)_{H^{\pm}}^{h_i \gamma \gamma} + (\delta_e)_t^{h_i Z \gamma} + (\delta_e)_W^{h_i Z \gamma} + (\delta_e)_{H^{\pm}}^{h_i Z \gamma} + (\delta_e)_{h_i}^{H^{\pm} W^{\mp} \gamma}.$$
(3.5)

Here, the superscripts of  $h_i\gamma\gamma$ ,  $h_iZ\gamma$ , and  $H^{\pm}W^{\mp}\gamma$  represent the operators for the specific Barr-Zee type diagrams. The subscripts of  $(t, W, H^{\pm}, h_i)$  represent the particles in the loops. Explicit expression for each term can be found in refs. [83–85], and summarized in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>As noted by [49] that current limits on the hadronic EDMs might provide similar sensitivities as the electron EDM, roughly  $d_e/d_n \sim 10^{-2}$ , thus one could expect that <sup>199</sup>Hg measurement [50] would give rises to complementary constraints on CP phases though hadronic EDMs are subjected to uncertainties of hadronic matrix elements [47].

the appendix of ref. [53]. Numerically, the leading contributions to the Wilson coefficient  $\delta_e$  are mainly due to the  $(\delta_e)^{h_1\gamma\gamma}$  and  $(\delta_e)^{h_1Z\gamma}$  terms, while the contributions from the other heavy Higgs bosons of  $(h_{2,3}, H^{\pm})$  can be safely neglected. These terms are proportional to the CP-odd couplings of  $\tilde{c}_{f,1}$ , and further proportional to the CPV mixing angle  $\alpha_b$  according to the Yukawa couplings listed in table. 1.

The eEDM upper bound from the ACME is converted to the constraints to the CPV 2HDM parameters on the  $(t_{\beta}, |\alpha_b|)$  plane. The combined 125 GeV Higgs boson signal constraints and the eEDM constraints are shown in figure 2. It is clear that the eEDM bound is the leading one to set upper bounds to the CPV mixing angle of  $|\alpha_b|$ , as compared to the fits of the SM-like Higgs boson signal strengths. For the CPV 2HDM-I (left panel), the size of CPV mixing angle is significantly bound as  $|\alpha_b| \lesssim 5 \times 10^{-3}$ , and the 1  $\sigma$  allowed range of  $t_{\beta}$  is within (0.9, 1.7). For the CPV 2HDM-II (right panel), the allowed region of the CPV mixing angle can be extended to  $|\alpha_b| \lesssim 0.1$ , while the 1  $\sigma$  allowed range of  $t_{\beta}$  is basically around 1.0. It has been noted in ref. [40] that the maximal cancellations between the  $h_i F^{\mu\nu} V_{\mu\nu}$  operator and the  $h_i F^{\mu\nu} \tilde{V}_{\mu\nu}$  operator can be achieved with the input of  $t_{\beta} \sim 1$  in the CPV 2HDM-II. In order to highlight the CPV effects in the Higgs self couplings in the following discussions, we will focus on the CPV 2HDM-II with the fixed inputs of  $\alpha = -\pi/4$  and  $t_{\beta} = 1.0$ . Furthermore, we also find that the Higgs cubic self couplings almost approach to the SM limit when the CPV mixing angle can be constrained as small as  $|\alpha_b| \lesssim 0.01$ . As stated in the previous paragraph, the Wilson coefficient of  $\delta_e$ depends on the CPV mixings almost linearly. Therefore, if the future measurements of the eEDM can improve the precisions to an order of magnitude or more, they can be very useful to constrain the benchmark models for the Higgs pair productions in this setup.

# 3.3 The unitarity and stability constraints

To have a self-consistent description of the 2HDM potential, two other theoretical constraints should be taken into account, namely, the perturbative unitarity and the stability.

Very roughly speaking, the perturbative unitarity constraint means that the theory cannot be strongly coupled. According to the relations listed in eqs. (2.11), the constraints to the self couplings of  $\lambda_i$  can be converted to upper bounds to the Higgs boson masses and the soft mass term of  $m_{\text{soft}}$  in the 2HDM. In practice, the necessary and sufficient condition of the tree-level unitarity bounds can be obtained by evaluating the eigenvalues of the *S*-matrices for the scattering processes of the scalar fields in the 2HDM [86, 87]. Due to the Nambu-Goldstone theorem, the *S*-matrices can be expressed in terms of 2HDM quartic couplings  $\lambda_i$ . Explicitly, the unitarity conditions to be satisfied are that the eigenvalues of each *S*-wave amplitude matrix should be  $\in (-1/2, 1/2)$ . The *S*-wave amplitude matrices are due to fourteen neutral, eight singly-charged, and three doubly-charged scalar channels. They read

neutral 
$$a_0^0 : |\pi_i^+ \pi_i^-\rangle$$
,  $|\pi_1^\pm \pi_2^\pm\rangle$ ,  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\pi_i^0 \pi_i^0\rangle$ ,  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |h_i h_i\rangle$ ,  
 $|h_i \pi_i^0\rangle$ ,  $|\pi_1^0 \pi_2^0\rangle$ ,  $|h_1 h_2\rangle$ ,  
 $|h_1 \pi_2^0\rangle$ ,  $|h_2 \pi_1^0\rangle$ , (3.6a)



Figure 3. The combined perturbative unitarity and stability bounds on the  $(M, m_{\text{soft}})$  plane for the CPV 2HDM-II. Left: the 2HDM-II with the fixed inputs of  $(|\alpha_b|, t_\beta) = (0.1, 1.0)$ , right: the 2HDM-II with the fixed inputs of  $(|\alpha_b|, t_\beta) = (0.05, 1.0)$ . The yellow shaded regions are excluded by the unitarity bounds, and the gray shaded regions are excluded by the stability bounds.

singly-charged 
$$a_0^+ : |\pi_i^+ \pi_i^0\rangle$$
,  $|\pi_i^+ h_i^0\rangle$ ,

$$|\pi_1^+\pi_2^0\rangle, \qquad |\pi_2^+\pi_1^0\rangle, \qquad |\pi_1^+h_2\rangle, \qquad |\pi_2^+h_1\rangle, \qquad (3.6b)$$

doubly-charged 
$$a_0^{++}: \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\pi_1^{\pm} \pi_1^{\pm}\rangle, \qquad \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\pi_2^{\pm} \pi_2^{\pm}\rangle, \qquad |\pi_1^{\pm} \pi_2^{\pm}\rangle.$$
 (3.6c)

The S-wave amplitude matrices for three different channels are expressed as

$$a_0^0 = \frac{1}{16\pi} \operatorname{diag}(X_{4\times 4}, Y_{4\times 4}, Z_{3\times 3}, Z_{3\times 3}), \qquad (3.7a)$$

$$a_0^+ = \frac{1}{16\pi} \operatorname{diag}(Y_{4\times 4}, Z_{3\times 3}, \lambda_3 - \lambda_4), \qquad (3.7b)$$

$$a_0^{++} = \frac{1}{16\pi} Z_{3\times3} \tag{3.7c}$$

where the expressions for the submatrices of  $(X_{4\times 4}, Y_{4\times 4}, Z_{3\times 3})$  are given in the ref. [87].

The stability constraints require a positive 2HDM potential for large values of Higgs fields along all field space directions. Collectively, they lead to the following conditions

$$\lambda_{1,2} > 0, \qquad \lambda_3 > -\sqrt{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}, \qquad \lambda_3 + \lambda_4 - |\lambda_5| > -\sqrt{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}, \qquad (3.8)$$

with  $\lambda_{6,7} = 0$  assumed. The combined constraints from the perturbative unitarity and stability to the  $(M, m_{\text{soft}})$  parameter regions for the CPV 2HDM-II are shown in figure 3 with the fixed input parameters of  $(|\alpha_b|, t_\beta) = (0.1, 1.0)$  (left panel) and  $(|\alpha_b|, t_\beta) =$ (0.05, 1.0) (right panel). It turns out that the combined perturbative unitarity and stability put upper bounds to the heavy Higgs boson masses of  $M \leq 1.0$  TeV for  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$ , or  $M \leq 1.2$  TeV for  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$ . The stability constraints of (3.8) bound the soft mass term of  $m_{\text{soft}}$  from above. As seen from eqs. (2.11), very large values of  $m_{\text{soft}}$  will pull  $\lambda_{1,2}$  into the negative regions, which violate the conditions described by eqs. (3.8). Later, we will find that the Higgs cubic self couplings, such as  $\lambda_{113}$  in our case, become enhanced with the large soft mass inputs of  $m_{\text{soft}}$  when they are close to the stability boundary.

# 3.4 The LHC searches for heavy Higgs bosons

The constraints to the signal strengths of the 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson  $h_1$  and the eEDM put bounds to the parameters of  $(|\alpha_b|, t_\beta)$ . The unitarity and stability constraints put upper bounds to the mass input parameters of  $(M, m_{\text{soft}})$ . Below, we take into account the constraints from the  $7 \oplus 8$  TeV LHC searches for the heavy Higgs bosons in the 2HDM spectrum. Such constraints were previously given in ref. [54], where authors included the constraints from  $h_{2,3} \to WW/ZZ$  and  $h_{2,3} \to Zh_1 \to \ell^+\ell^-b\bar{b}$  final states. Additionally, there have been recent experimental searches to the  $hh \to b\bar{b}\gamma\gamma$  final states from both ATLAS and CMS collaborations, which are included in our studies.

#### 3.4.1 The heavy Higgs productions

The cross sections of the heavy Higgs bosons via the ggF channel can be rescaled from the SM-like Higgs production with the same mass as

$$\frac{\sigma[gg \to h_i]}{\sigma[gg \to h_{\rm SM}]} = \frac{\left|c_{t,i}A_{1/2}^H(\tau_t^i) + c_{b,i}A_{1/2}^H(\tau_b^i)\right|^2 + \left|\tilde{c}_{t,i}A_{1/2}^A(\tau_t^i) + \tilde{c}_{b,i}A_{1/2}^A(\tau_b^i)\right|^2}{\left|A_{1/2}^H(\tau_t^i) + A_{1/2}^H(\tau_b^i)\right|^2}, \quad (3.9)$$

with the variable of

$$\tau_f^i \equiv \frac{M_i^2}{4m_f^2}, \qquad f = t, b.$$
(3.10)

The cross sections of the heavy Higgs bosons via the VBF channel can be rescaled from the SM-like Higgs production with the same mass as

$$\frac{\sigma[qq \to qqh_i]}{\sigma[qq \to qqh_{\rm SM}]} = a_i^2.$$
(3.11)

#### 3.4.2 The heavy Higgs decays

Here, we list the partial decay widths of the heavy neutral Higgs bosons at the leading order (LO). The partial decay widths into the gauge bosons are

$$\frac{\Gamma[h_i \to VV]}{\Gamma[h_{\rm SM} \to VV]} = a_i^2, \qquad (3.12)$$

with  $V = (W^{\pm}, Z)$ . The partial decay widths into the SM fermions are

$$\frac{\Gamma[h_i \to f\bar{f}]}{\Gamma[h_{\rm SM} \to f\bar{f}]} = (c_{f,i})^2 + (\tilde{c}_{f,i})^2.$$
(3.13)

We also consider the non-standard decay modes of the heavy Higgs bosons, which include  $h_i \to h_1 Z$ ,  $H^{\pm} \to h_1 W^{\pm}$ , and  $h_i \to h_1 h_1$ . Their partial decay widths are

$$\Gamma[h_i \to h_1 Z] = \frac{|g_{i1z}|^2}{16\pi M_i} \sqrt{\left(1 - \frac{(M_1 + m_Z)^2}{M_i^2}\right) \left(1 - \frac{(M_1 - m_Z)^2}{M_i^2}\right)} \times \left[\frac{1}{m_Z^2} (M_i^2 - M_1^2)^2 - (2M_i^2 + 2M_1^2 - m_Z^2)\right], \quad (3.14a)$$

$$\Gamma[h_i \to h_1 h_1] = \frac{\lambda_{11i}^2}{4\pi M_i} \sqrt{1 - \frac{4M_1^2}{M_i^2}}, \qquad (3.14b)$$



**Figure 4.** The combined unitarity and stability bounds on the  $(M, m_{\text{soft}})$  plane for the CPV 2HDM-II, with fixed parameter of  $t_{\beta} = 1.0$ . Left:  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$ , right:  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$ . The pink shaded regions are excluded by the LHC searches for the heavy Higgs bosons.

where  $g_{iz1} = (e/s_{2W})[(-s_{\beta}\mathcal{R}_{11} + c_{\beta}\mathcal{R}_{12})\mathcal{R}_{i3} - (-s_{\beta}\mathcal{R}_{i1} + c_{\beta}\mathcal{R}_{i2})\mathcal{R}_{13}]$ . The cubic self couplings of  $\lambda_{11i}$  are obtained in eq. (2.20) from the Lagrangian terms in eq. (2.19), and their expansions in terms of the CPV mixing angle  $\alpha_b$  are given in eqs. (4.2) later. By fixing the parameter choices of the alignment limit and  $\alpha_c = 0$ , we find the non-vanishing couplings of  $g_{2z1} = -(e/s_{2W})s_{\alpha_b}$  and  $\lambda_{113} \neq 0$ .

#### 3.4.3 The experimental search bounds

The current LHC experimental searches for the heavy Higgs bosons are performed via the (WW, ZZ) final states [88, 89], the  $H \to hh \to b\bar{b} + \gamma\gamma$  [90, 91], and  $A \to hZ \to (b\bar{b} + \ell^+ \ell^- / \tau^+ \tau^- + \ell^+ \ell^-)$  [94, 95]. Since we always assume that  $M_2 = M_3$ , the constraints to the heavy Higgs boson searches at the LHC are imposed to the cross sections of  $\sigma[pp \to h_2/h_3 \to XX]$ 

$$\sigma[pp \to h_2/h_3 \to XX] = \sigma[gg \to h_2] \times \operatorname{Br}[h_2 \to XX] + \sigma[gg \to h_3] \times \operatorname{Br}[h_3 \to XX], \qquad (3.15)$$

where we consider the leading production channel of ggF obtained from eq. (3.9). The decay branching ratios are obtained from the partial decay widths of eqs. (3.12), (3.13), (3.14a), and (3.14b) evaluated at the LO. We find the most stringent constraint to the heavy Higgs boson searches are from the recent CMS searches for the resonances with two SM-like Higgs bosons in ref. [91]. By converting all heavy Higgs boson constraints to the  $(M, m_{\text{soft}})$  plane, we find the mass regions of  $M_{2,3} \leq 600$  GeV are excluded for  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$ , or  $M_{2,3} \leq 500$  GeV are excluded for  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$ , respectively. The current *B*-physics data also excludes the charged Higgs boson mass greater than  $M_{\pm} \sim 340$  GeV for 2HDM-II [92, 93]. Combining with the previous unitarity and stability constraints, we display the allowed parameter regions of  $(M, m_{\text{soft}})$  in figure 4. Accordingly, we consider two scenarios of

(i) : 
$$|\alpha_b| = 0.1$$
, with  $M_{2,3} \in (600 \text{ GeV}, 1000 \text{ GeV})$ ,  
(ii) :  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$ , with  $M_{2,3} \in (500 \text{ GeV}, 1200 \text{ GeV})$ , (3.16)

for the Higgs pair productions at the future high-energy  $e^+e^-$  and pp colliders. A set of benchmark models for the  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$  and  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$  cases are listed in table. 2, where the

	$ \alpha_b  = 0.1$			$ \alpha_b  = 0.05$		
$M_2 = M_3 (\text{GeV})$	$m_{\rm soft}({\rm GeV})$	$\lambda_{111}({ m GeV})$	$\lambda_{113}({ m GeV})$	$m_{\rm soft}({\rm GeV})$	$\lambda_{111}({ m GeV})$	$\lambda_{113}({ m GeV})$
500				350	29.37	-70.33
600	400	19.45	-173.75	420	28.28	-102.66
700	440	16.80	-200.04	480	27.19	-133.01
800	480	13.89	-227.22	540	25.96	-167.14
900	520	10.74	-255.31	600	24.57	-205.05
1000	560	7.33	-284.30	660	23.05	-246.72
1100				710	21.66	-280.60
1200				770	19.87	-328.86

**Table 2.** The CPV 2HDM-II benchmark models for the CPV mixing angles of  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$  and  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$ . The heavy Higgs boson mass ranges are chosen according to eq. (3.16). The non-vanishing Higgs cubic self couplings of  $\lambda_{111}$  and  $\lambda_{113}$  are listed for each model.

soft mass terms of  $m_{\text{soft}}$  are chosen to be close to the stability boundary for each heavy Higgs boson mass. In the next section, we will study the Higgs pair productions at the future  $e^+e^-$  and pp collider experiments based on these benchmark models.

#### 3.5 The EW precision constraints

The Peskin-Takeuchi parameters of (S, T) for the EW precision tests were obtained in refs. [30, 96–100] for the 2HDM. In our simplified case with the alignment limit, the degenerate masses of  $M_2 = M_3 = M_{\pm}$ , and  $\alpha_c = 0$ , they read

$$\Delta S = \frac{1}{96 \pi^2 c_W} \frac{m_W^2}{v^2} \left\{ c_{2w}^2 G(M_{\pm}^2, M_{\pm}^2, m_Z^2) + \left[ G(M_1^2, M_2^2, m_Z^2) + \hat{G}(M_3^2, m_Z^2) \right] s_{\alpha_b}^2 \right. \\ \left. + \left[ \hat{G}(M_1^2 m_Z^2) + G(M_2^2, M_3^2, m_Z^2) \right] c_{\alpha_b}^2 + \log\left(\frac{M_1^2 M_2^2 M_3^2}{M_{\pm}^6}\right) \right. \\ \left. - \left[ \hat{G}(M_{H, \text{ref}}^2, m_Z^2) + \log\left(\frac{M_{H, \text{ref}}^2}{M_{\pm}^2}\right) \right] \right\},$$
(3.17a)

$$\alpha \Delta T = \frac{1}{6\pi^2 v^2} \Delta_1 (m_W - m_Z) s_{\alpha_b}^2 \,. \tag{3.17b}$$

for a reference value of the SM Higgs boson mass  $M_{H,\text{ref}} = 125$  GeV. Here, we denote  $\Delta_1 \equiv M_{\pm} - M_1$ , and the functions of  $G(x, y, z), \hat{G}(x, y)$  are given in [96]. By employing the current Gfitter fit to the EW data [101], the parameters are founded to be constrained by T parameter mostly for the CPV parameter  $\alpha_b$  allowed by figure 2, and the degenerate masses of heavy Higgs bosons relax the constraints again.

# 4 Higgs pair productions at the colliders

In this section, we study the SM-like Higgs pair productions in the framework of the CPV 2HDM. The SM-like Higgs cubic self coupling of  $\lambda_{111}$  are modified due to the varying

inputs of the soft mass term and the CPV mixing angle. Therefore, we will discuss the precision measurement of  $\lambda_{111}$  at the future  $e^+e^-$  colliders for the benchmark models in table. 2. We will also focus on the most dominant channel for the resonance contributions, namely the ggF process at the hadron colliders, which include the LHC 14 TeV and the future SppC/Fcc-hh 100 TeV runs.

#### 4.1 The Higgs cubic self couplings

Before evaluating the cross sections of the Higgs pair productions, it is necessary to look at the behaviors of the relevant Higgs cubic self couplings of  $\lambda_{11i}$  (i = 1, 2, 3). Following the previous constraints, we fix the parameters of ( $\alpha, t_{\beta}$ ) = ( $-\pi/4, 1.0$ ), and keep the input of  $\alpha_c = 0$ . With these assumptions, we find that only  $\lambda_{111}$  and  $\lambda_{113}$  survive, and  $\lambda_{112}$  is always vanishing. Their explicit expressions in the mass eigenbasis read

$$\lambda_{111} = \frac{c_{\alpha_b}}{2v} \left[ M_1^2 \left( s_{\alpha_b}^4 + c_{\alpha_b}^4 + s_{2\alpha_b}^2 \right) + 2M_3^2 s_{\alpha_b}^4 - 4m_{\text{soft}}^2 s_{\alpha_b}^2 \right],$$
(4.1a)

$$\lambda_{113} = \frac{s_{\alpha_b}}{8v} \Big[ M_1^2 \left( 3 c_{4\alpha_b} + 8 c_{2\alpha_b} - 3 \right) - M_3^2 \left( 3 c_{4\alpha_b} - 4 c_{2\alpha_b} - 3 \right) \\ -8m_{\text{soft}}^2 \left( 3 c_{2\alpha_b} + 1 \right) \Big].$$
(4.1b)

Since the CPV mixing angle of  $\alpha_b$  is typically small by imposing the eEDM constraints, it is also useful to expand the cubic couplings in terms of the  $\alpha_b$  angle as follows

$$\lambda_{111} \simeq \frac{M_1^2}{2v} + \frac{3M_1^2 - 8\,m_{\text{soft}}^2}{4v} \cdot \alpha_b^2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_b^4)\,, \qquad (4.2a)$$

$$\lambda_{113} \simeq \frac{2M_1^2 + M_3^2 - 8\,m_{\text{soft}}^2}{2v} \cdot \alpha_b + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_b^3)\,. \tag{4.2b}$$

The Higgs cubic self coupling of  $\lambda_{111}$  starts with the SM predicted values of  $\lambda_{hhh}^{\text{SM}} \simeq 32 \text{ GeV}$ , plus the higher order corrections of  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_b^2)$ . The overall magnitude of  $\lambda_{113}$  is controlled by the size of the CPV mixing angle  $\alpha_b$ . Hence, one can expect that the improvement in the precisions of the eEDM measurements will reduce the size of the heavy resonance contributions to the Higgs pair productions via the ggF process.

In figure 5, we plot the Higgs cubic self couplings of  $\lambda_{111}$  and  $\lambda_{113}$  for the  $M_2 = M_3 = 600$  GeV case with different CPV mixing angles of  $\alpha_b$  in the CPV 2HDM-II. The lower and upper bounds of the soft mass inputs  $m_{\text{soft}}$  in these plots are from the perturbative unitarity and the stability constraints, respectively. For a fixed input of  $\alpha_b$ , the Higgs cubic self coupling of  $\lambda_{111}$  becomes smaller than the SM predicted value with the increasing inputs of  $m_{\text{soft}}$ . On the other hand, when the CPV mixing angle becomes as small as  $\alpha_b = 0.01$ , the Higgs cubic self coupling of  $\lambda_{111}$  is basically the same as  $\lambda_{hhh}^{\text{SM}} \simeq 32$  GeV. The other Higgs cubic self coupling of  $\lambda_{113}$  also decreases from positive regions to negative regions with the increasing inputs of  $m_{\text{soft}}$ . Its variation is also controlled by the size of the CPV mixing angle of  $\alpha_b$ , as seen from its behaviors with the different inputs of the CPV mixing angle of  $\alpha_b = (0.1, 0.05, 0.01)$ . For the  $M_2 = M_3 = 600$  GeV case,  $\lambda_{113}$  tends to zero when the soft mass term is  $m_{\text{soft}} \simeq 220$  GeV, as can be evaluated from eq. (4.2b). Thus, one would expect the corresponding resonance contributions to vanish. When the soft mass



Figure 5. The Higgs cubic self couplings  $\lambda_{111}$  (left) and  $\lambda_{113}$  (right) versus  $m_{\text{soft}}$  for the  $M_2 = M_3 = 600$  GeV case in the CPV 2HDM-II, with fixed inputs of  $\alpha = -\pi/4$  and  $t_\beta = 1.0$ .

deviates from this value of  $m_{\text{soft}} \simeq 220$  GeV, either increases to the stability boundary or decreases to zero,  $|\lambda_{113}|$  increases. Correspondingly, one can expect large resonance contributions for such parameter inputs.

# 4.2 The precise measurement of $\lambda_{111}$ at the future $e^+e^-$ colliders

The future high-energy  $e^+e^-$  colliders provide opportunities of measuring the SM-like Higgs cubic self couplings. The direct measurements can be achieved via the  $e^+e^- \rightarrow hhZ$  process with the center-of-mass energy of  $\sqrt{s} = 500$  GeV, or via the vector boson fusion process of  $e^+e^- \rightarrow hh\nu_e\bar{\nu}_e$  with the center-of-mass energy of  $\sqrt{s} = 1$  TeV [14, 15, 17]. The first advantage of the  $e^+e^-$  colliders is that the relevant Higgs-gauge couplings for these processes can be precisely measured to the percentage level at the  $\sqrt{s} = 240 - 250$  GeV runs [14–16]. For the CPV 2HDM, one has the Higgs-gauge couplings of

$$g_{1ZZ} = g_{hZZ}^{\text{SM}} c_{\alpha_b} = \frac{m_Z^2}{v} c_{\alpha_b} , \qquad g_{11ZZ} = g_{hhZZ}^{\text{SM}} = \frac{m_Z^2}{2v^2} .$$
(4.3)

with  $\delta g_{1ZZ} = \left| g_{1ZZ} - g_{hZZ}^{\text{SM}} \right| < \mathcal{O}(1\%)$  after imposing the eEDM constraints. The second advantage of the  $e^+e^-$  colliders is that the contributions to the total cross section from the heavy resonance of  $h_3$  are typically less than  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-4})$ , hence they are negligible. Therefore, it is a good approximation to assume the SM predicted values for the Higgs-gauge couplings, and only vary the Higgs cubic self coupling of  $\lambda_{111}$ . The ratio of the total cross section of  $\sigma[e^+e^- \to hhZ]$  to its SM counterpart can be parametrized as follows

$$\frac{\sigma[e^+e^- \to h_1h_1Z]}{\sigma[e^+e^- \to hhZ]_{\rm SM}} = 0.097\,\xi_{111}^2 + 0.369\,\xi_{111} + 0.534\,,\tag{4.4}$$

at the TLEP and ILC 500 GeV runs, with  $\xi_{111} \equiv \lambda_{111}/\lambda_{hhh}^{SM}$ . The total cross sections at the TLEP and ILC 500 GeV runs versus the ratios of different Higgs cubic self couplings  $\lambda_{111}/\lambda_{hhh}^{SM}$  are displayed on the left panel of figure 6. The ranges of  $\lambda_{111}$  in two set of benchmark models with  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$  and  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$  are also shown in the light-blue and lightgreen shaded regions, respectively. From the results given in table. 2 for the benchmark models, the Higgs cubic self couplings of  $\lambda_{111}$  are always smaller than the SM predicted



**Figure 6.** Left: the cross sections of  $\sigma[e^+e^- \rightarrow h_1h_1Z]$  at the TLEP (red) and ILC (blue) 500 GeV versus the different Higgs cubic self couplings. Right: the expected accuracies on the Higgs cubic self couplings at the future  $e^+e^-$  colliders, and the  $\Delta\lambda_{111}/\lambda_{hhh}^{\rm SM}$  for the benchmark models of  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$  and  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$ .

values. Thus, the corresponding cross sections of  $\sigma[e^+e^- \rightarrow h_1h_1Z]$  are smaller than the SM predictions at the TLEP and the ILC. On the right panel of figure 6, we display the expected accuracies on the Higgs cubic self couplings for ILC500 (with  $\int \mathcal{L}dt = 0.5 \text{ ab}^{-1}$ ), TLEP500 (with  $\int \mathcal{L}dt = 1 \text{ ab}^{-1}$ ), ILC 1 TeV (with  $\int \mathcal{L}dt = 1 \text{ ab}^{-1}$ ), and CLIC 3 TeV (with  $\int \mathcal{L}dt = 2 \text{ ab}^{-1}$ ). The deviations of the Higgs cubic self couplings  $\Delta\lambda_{111}/\lambda_{hhh}^{\text{SM}}$  corresponding to the benchmark models of  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$  and  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$  are shown for comparison. For the  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$  case, the largest deviations of  $\lambda_{111}$  can be probed with the accuracies reached by the TLEP 500 GeV; while for the smaller CPV mixing angle of  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$  case, the largest deviations of  $\lambda_{111}$  can be probed with the accuracies reached by the ILC 1 TeV.

# 4.3 The $pp \rightarrow h_1h_1$ in the CPV 2HDM

The parton-level differential cross sections of the Higgs pair production for both SM Higgs and BSM Higgs bosons via the ggF process were previously derived in refs. [102–105]. For the productions of the SM-like Higgs boson pairs, its differential cross section reads

$$\frac{d\hat{\sigma}}{d\hat{t}}[gg \to hh] = \frac{G_F^2 \alpha_s^2}{512(2\pi)^3} \sum_q \left[ \left| \left( C_{\triangle}^h F_{\triangle}^h + C_{\Box}^{hh} F_{\Box}^{hh} \right) \right|^2 + \left| C_{\Box}^{hh} G_{\Box}^{hh} \right|^2 \right], \quad (4.5)$$

where the dominant contributions are due to the top-quark loops. The form factors of  $(F_{\triangle}, F_{\Box}, G_{\Box})$  are from the loop integrals of the triangle diagrams, the J = 0 partial wave of the box diagrams, and the J = 2 partial wave of the box diagrams. Their explicit expressions are summarized in the appendix of ref. [103]. The relevant coefficients are given by

$$C^{h}_{\Delta} = \frac{\left(6\lambda_{hhh}v\right)\xi^{q}_{h}}{\hat{s} - M^{2}_{h} + iM_{h}\Gamma_{h}},\qquad(4.6a)$$

$$C^{hh}_{\Box} = (\xi^q_h)^2 \,,$$
 (4.6b)

with  $\lambda_{hhh}$  and  $\xi_h^q$  representing the Higgs cubic self couplings and the dimensionless Yukawa couplings of the SM-like Higgs boson, respectively. For the SM case, these couplings are

$$\lambda_{hhh}^{(SM)} = \frac{M_h^2}{2v}, \qquad (\xi_h^q)^{(SM)} = 1.$$
 (4.7)

The LO total cross sections for the LHC 14 TeV runs and the SppC 100 TeV runs can be estimated by using Madgraph 5 [106] as follows

$$\sigma_{\rm LO}^{14}[pp \to hh] = 17.34 \text{ fb}, \qquad \sigma_{\rm LO}^{100}[pp \to hh] = 806.6 \text{ fb}.$$
 (4.8)

For the most general case in the CPV 2HDM, all neutral Higgs bosons of  $h_i$  have both CP-even and CP-odd Yukawa couplings. Furthermore, the heavy resonances enter into the Higgs pair productions. The corresponding differential cross sections at the parton level can be generalized from the results in the appendix of ref. [103] for the different CP combinations of the final-state  $h_1 h_1$ , which are expressed as follows

$$\frac{d\hat{\sigma}}{d\hat{t}}[gg \to h_{1}h_{1}] = \frac{G_{F}^{2}\alpha_{s}^{2}}{512(2\pi)^{3}} \sum_{q} \left[ \left| \left( \sum_{h_{i}=h_{1},h_{3}} C_{\Delta}^{h_{i}} \right) F_{\Delta}^{h} + C_{\Box}^{hh}F_{\Box}^{hh} + C_{\Box}^{AA}F_{\Box}^{AA} \right|^{2} + \left| \left( \sum_{h_{i}=h_{1},h_{3}} \tilde{C}_{\Delta}^{h_{i}} \right) F_{\Delta}^{A} + C_{\Box}^{hA}F_{\Box}^{hA} \right|^{2} + \left| C_{\Box}^{hh}G_{\Box}^{hh} + C_{\Box}^{AA}G_{\Box}^{AA} \right|^{2} + \left| C_{\Box}^{hA}G_{\Box}^{hA} \right|^{2} \right].$$
(4.9)

The relevant couplings are

$$C_{\Box}^{hh} = (c_{q,1})^2, \qquad (4.10a)$$

$$C_{\Box}^{AA} = (\tilde{c}_{q,1})^2,$$
 (4.10b)

$$C^{hA}_{\Box} = c_{q,1}\tilde{c}_{q,1}, \qquad (4.10c)$$

$$C^{h_i}_{\Delta} = \frac{(g_{11i}v)c_{q,i}}{\hat{s} - M_i^2 + iM_i\Gamma_i},$$
(4.10d)

$$\tilde{C}^{h_i}_{\Delta} = \frac{(g_{11i}v)\tilde{c}_{q,i}}{\hat{s} - M_i^2 + iM_i\Gamma_i},$$
(4.10e)

with  $g_{111} = 6\lambda_{111}$  and  $g_{113} = 4\lambda_{113}$ . To evaluate the cross sections, we implement all couplings given in eqs. (4.10) into the FeynRules [107], and pass the UFO model files into the Madgraph 5.

Now we present the results of the Higgs pair productions in the CPV 2HDM, by combining all previous constraints. As one can learn from eq. (4.9), the cross sections of  $\sigma[pp \rightarrow h_1h_1]$  get modified from their SM counterparts due to: (i) the modification of the Higgs cubic self coupling  $\lambda_{111}$ , (ii) the modifications of the top quark Yukawa couplings, and (iii) the additional resonance contributions. Through the signal fit to the 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson  $h_1$  and the eEDM constraints, the dimensionless Higgs Yukawa couplings are



Figure 7. The cross sections of  $\sigma[pp \to h_1h_1]$  at the LHC 14 TeV (left) and SppC 100 TeV (right) versus the varying  $m_{\text{soft}}$  for the  $M_2 = M_3 = 600$  GeV case in the CPV 2HDM-II, with fixed inputs of  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$ .

bounded such that  $\delta c_{f,1} < 1 \%$  and  $\tilde{c}_{f,1} \sim -0.1$ . Therefore, the box diagram contributions are envisioned to approach to the SM predicted values. From the previous estimation of the Higgs cubic self couplings for the  $M_2 = M_3 = 600$  GeV case, we may either have the large resonance contributions or go to the regions with the vanishing resonance contributions of  $(\lambda_{111}, \lambda_{113}) \rightarrow (\lambda_{hhh}^{\text{SM}}, 0)$ . For these two limiting scenarios, further simplifications can be made for eq. (4.9), which are

resonances : 
$$\frac{d\hat{\sigma}}{d\hat{t}} \approx \frac{G_F^2 \alpha_s^2}{512 (2\pi)^3} \left[ \left| \sum_{h_i} C_{\triangle}^{h_i} F_{\triangle}^h \right|^2 + \left| \sum_{h_i} \tilde{C}_{\triangle}^{h_i} F_{\triangle}^A \right|^2 \right],$$
 (4.11a)

non – resonances : 
$$\frac{d\hat{\sigma}}{d\hat{t}} \approx \frac{G_F^2 \alpha_s^2}{512 (2\pi)^3} \Big[ \Big| C_{\triangle}^{h_1} F_{\triangle}^h + C_{\Box}^{hh} F_{\Box}^{hh} + C_{\Box}^{AA} F_{\Box}^{AA} \Big|^2 \\ + \Big| \tilde{C}_{\triangle}^{h_1} F_{\triangle}^A + C_{\Box}^{hA} F_{\Box}^{hA} \Big|^2 \\ + \Big| C_{\Box}^{hh} G_{\Box}^{hh} + C_{\Box}^{AA} G_{\Box}^{AA} \Big|^2 + \Big| C_{\Box}^{hA} G_{\Box}^{hA} \Big|^2 \Big].$$
(4.11b)

In figure 7, we display the LO cross sections of  $\sigma[pp \rightarrow h_1h_1]$  at the LHC and the SppC/Fcc-hh for the  $M_2 = M_3 = 600$  GeV case. The solid curves represent the full results by combining every term in eq. (4.9). We also show the hypothetical cross sections of eq. (4.11b), where we turn off the Higgs cubic self coupling of  $\lambda_{113}$  while modify  $\lambda_{111}$  according to eq. (4.2a). Thus, it is evident that the total cross sections approach to the SM-like Higgs pair productions with the modified cubic self couplings. On the other hand, the LO cross sections at the LHC (SppC) can be as large as ~  $\mathcal{O}(100)$  fb (~  $\mathcal{O}(6)$  pb) when the soft mass approaches to the stability boundary for this case.

Furthermore, we evaluate the LO cross sections for the benchmark models listed in table. 2. The typical cross sections subject all constraints in the previous context are  $\mathcal{O}(10) - \mathcal{O}(100)$  fb at the LHC or  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  pb at the SppC for the allowed mass ranges. The corresponding results are displayed in figure 8, for benchmark models with  $|\alpha_b| = 0.1$  and  $|\alpha_b| = 0.05$ , respectively. We display the cross sections with the  $h_1h_1 \rightarrow b\bar{b} + \gamma\gamma$  and  $h_1h_1 \rightarrow b\bar{b} + W^+W^-$  final states. From the experimental side, the  $b\bar{b} + \gamma\gamma$  final states are the leading one to look for the Higgs pair productions at the hadron colliders, in that



Figure 8. The total cross sections of  $\sigma[pp \to h_1h_1]$  via the ggF at the LHC 14 TeV (solid curves) and the SppC 100 TeV (dashed curves). Left: the cross sections for the benchmark models with the  $\alpha_b = 0.1$  input, right: the cross sections for the benchmark models with the  $\alpha_b = 0.05$  input.



Figure 9. The cross sections of the other search modes of the heavy Higgs bosons at the LHC 14 TeV (left panels) and the SppC 100 TeV (right panels).

the relevant SM background is under control. The LO cross sections for the  $b\bar{b} + \gamma\gamma$  of our benchmark models are ~  $\mathcal{O}(0.1)$  fb at the LHC, and they increase to  $\mathcal{O}(10)$  fb at the SppC. In addition, one may also consider the  $b\bar{b} + W_hW_\ell$  final states with the aid of the jet substructure technique [8]. The LO cross sections for the  $b\bar{b} + WW$  of our benchmark models are ~  $\mathcal{O}(10)$  fb at the LHC, and they increase to  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  pb at the SppC.

## 4.4 Other channels

Besides the Higgs pair productions, we also have the other search modes for the heavy Higgs bosons of  $h_2/h_3$ , such as di-bosons and Higgs plus Z. In figure 9, we display the

cross sections of the other search modes of the heavy Higgs bosons, including  $pp \to h_i \to (W^+W^- \to 2\ell 2\nu, ZZ \to 4\ell, hZ \to b\bar{b} + \ell^+\ell^-)$ . The current LHC searches for the heavy Higgs bosons via these channels can be found in refs. [88, 89, 94, 95, 108–110]. The cross sections for these benchmark models are typically  $\sim \mathcal{O}(0.01) - \mathcal{O}(0.1)$  fb at the LHC, and enhanced to  $\mathcal{O}(1) - \mathcal{O}(10)$  fb at the SppC. Analogous to the Higgs pair production process at the resonance region, the decay branching ratios of  $\text{Br}[h_i \to WW/ZZ/hZ] \propto \alpha_b^2$ . Therefore, the improvements of the precise measurements of the future eEDM experiments can also suppress the expected cross sections for these final states.

# 5 Conclusion

The extended Higgs sector is a general setup with rich physical ingredients to address the issues that are beyond the SM. Particularly, the spontaneous CPV can be achieved with the general 2HDM setup. In this work, we study the Higgs pair productions in the framework of the CPV 2HDM, with the focus on the leading production channel of the ggF. The set of constraints to the CPV Higgs sector are taken into account, including the SM-like Higgs signal fit, the eEDM constraint, the perturbative unitarity and stability constraints, and the current LHC searches for the heavy Higgs bosons. Together with the simplification to the model, we focus on the CPV 2HDM-II, where a relatively large size of CPV mixing is possible at  $t_{\beta} \sim 1$ .

The Higgs cubic self couplings play the most crucial role for the Higgs pair production. For our case, two relevant cubic self couplings are  $\lambda_{111}$  and  $\lambda_{113}$ , which are controlled by the soft mass term  $m_{\text{soft}}$  and the CPV mixing angle of  $\alpha_b$ . The precise measurement of the SM-like Higgs cubic coupling of  $\lambda_{111}$  can be achieved via the  $e^+e^- \rightarrow h_1h_1Z$  and  $e^+e^- \rightarrow$  $h_1 h_1 \nu_e \bar{\nu}_e$  processes at the future high-energy  $e^+ e^-$  colliders. The benchmark models in our discussions typically predict totally cross sections of  $\sigma[e^+e^- \rightarrow h_1h_1Z]$  smaller than the SM predictions. The largest deviations of the SM-like Higgs cubic couplings  $\lambda_{111}$  are likely to be probed at the future TLEP 500 GeV and ILC 1 TeV runs. At the future high-energy pp collider runs, the Higgs pair productions are very likely to be controlled by the heavy resonance contributions. In the allowed mass range of the heavy Higgs bosons, we find the total production cross sections to be  $\sigma[pp \to h_1h_1] \sim \mathcal{O}(10) - \mathcal{O}(100)$  fb at the LHC 14 TeV runs. They can be as large as  $\sim \mathcal{O}(10^3)$  fb at the future SppC 100 TeV runs. Other search modes of di-bosons and Higgs plus Z that are currently probed at the LHC  $7 \oplus 8$  TeV experiments are also estimated at the future LHC 14 TeV and the SppC 100 TeV experiments. The discovery of all these channels will manifest the structure of the Higgs sector. Therefore, it will be very helpful to further study the higher-order QCD corrections as well as the collider search capabilities for such heavy resonance contributions to the Higgs pairs.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Jian Wang for his early collaboration in this work, and Yang Bai, Chien-Yi Chen, Jordy de Vries, Zuowei Liu, Lilin Yang and Yue Zhang for very useful discussions and communication. This work is partially supported by the National Science Foundation of China (under Grant No. 11575176, 11605016), the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (under Grant No. WK2030040069). We would like to thank the Kavli Institute for Theoretical Physics China at the Chinese Academy of Sciences and Nanjing University for their hospitalities when part of this work was prepared.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- ATLAS collaboration, Observation of a new particle in the search for the standard model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1207.7214] [INSPIRE].
- [2] CMS collaboration, Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 30 [arXiv:1207.7235] [INSPIRE].
- U. Baur, T. Plehn and D.L. Rainwater, Measuring the Higgs boson self coupling at the LHC and finite top mass matrix elements, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 (2002) 151801 [hep-ph/0206024]
   [INSPIRE].
- [4] U. Baur, T. Plehn and D.L. Rainwater, Determining the Higgs boson selfcoupling at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 033003 [hep-ph/0211224] [INSPIRE].
- U. Baur, T. Plehn and D.L. Rainwater, Examining the Higgs boson potential at lepton and hadron colliders: a comparative analysis, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 033001 [hep-ph/0304015]
   [INSPIRE].
- [6] R. Contino et al., Anomalous couplings in double Higgs production, JHEP 08 (2012) 154 [arXiv:1205.5444] [INSPIRE].
- M.J. Dolan, C. Englert and M. Spannowsky, *Higgs self-coupling measurements at the LHC*, JHEP 10 (2012) 112 [arXiv:1206.5001] [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Papaefstathiou, L.L. Yang and J. Zurita, Higgs boson pair production at the LHC in the bbW<sup>+</sup>W<sup>-</sup> channel, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 011301 [arXiv:1209.1489] [INSPIRE].
- [9] J. Baglio et al., The measurement of the Higgs self-coupling at the LHC: theoretical status, JHEP 04 (2013) 151 [arXiv:1212.5581] [INSPIRE].
- [10] V. Barger, L.L. Everett, C.B. Jackson and G. Shaughnessy, *Higgs-pair production and measurement of the triscalar coupling at LHC(8,14)*, *Phys. Lett.* B 728 (2014) 433
   [arXiv:1311.2931] [INSPIRE].
- [11] N. Chen, C. Du, Y. Fang and L.-C. Lü, LHC searches for the heavy Higgs boson via two B jets plus diphoton, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 115006 [arXiv:1312.7212] [INSPIRE].
- C.-R. Chen and I. Low, Double take on new physics in double Higgs boson production, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 013018 [arXiv:1405.7040] [INSPIRE].
- Q.-H. Cao, B. Yan, D.-M. Zhang and H. Zhang, Resolving the degeneracy in single Higgs production with Higgs pair production, Phys. Lett. B 752 (2016) 285 [arXiv:1508.06512]
   [INSPIRE].

- [14] H. Baer et al., The International Linear Collider technical design report Volume 2: physics, arXiv:1306.6352 [INSPIRE].
- [15] TLEP DESIGN STUDY WORKING GROUP collaboration, M. Bicer et al., First look at the physics case of TLEP, JHEP 01 (2014) 164 [arXiv:1308.6176] [INSPIRE].
- [16] CEPC-SPPC STUDY GROUP collaboration, CEPC-SPPC preliminary conceptual design report, IHEP-CEPC-DR-2015-01 (2015).
- [17] J. Tian, K. Fujii and Y. Gao, Study of Higgs self-coupling at ILC, arXiv:1008.0921 [INSPIRE].
- [18] W. Yao, Studies of measuring Higgs self-coupling with  $HH \rightarrow b\bar{b}\gamma\gamma$  at the future hadron colliders, arXiv:1308.6302 [INSPIRE].
- [19] B. Hespel, D. Lopez-Val and E. Vryonidou, Higgs pair production via gluon fusion in the two-Higgs-doublet model, JHEP 09 (2014) 124 [arXiv:1407.0281] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A.J. Barr, M.J. Dolan, C. Englert, D.E. Ferreira de Lima and M. Spannowsky, *Higgs self-coupling measurements at a 100 TeV hadron collider*, *JHEP* 02 (2015) 016 [arXiv:1412.7154] [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Papaefstathiou, Discovering Higgs boson pair production through rare final states at a 100 TeV collider, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 113016 [arXiv:1504.04621] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A.V. Kotwal, S. Chekanov and M. Low, Double Higgs boson production in the 4τ channel from resonances in longitudinal vector boson scattering at a 100 TeV collider, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 114018 [arXiv:1504.08042] [INSPIRE].
- [23] H.-J. He, J. Ren and W. Yao, Probing new physics of cubic Higgs boson interaction via Higgs pair production at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 015003
   [arXiv:1506.03302] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Arhrib, R. Benbrik, J. El Falaki and A. Jueid, *Radiative corrections to the triple Higgs coupling in the inert Higgs doublet model*, *JHEP* 12 (2015) 007 [arXiv:1507.03630]
   [INSPIRE].
- [25] B. Fuks, J.H. Kim and S.J. Lee, Probing Higgs self-interactions in proton-proton collisions at a center-of-mass energy of 100 TeV, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 035026 [arXiv:1510.07697]
   [INSPIRE].
- [26] N. Arkani-Hamed, T. Han, M. Mangano and L.-T. Wang, *Physics opportunities of a 100 TeV proton-proton collider*, arXiv:1511.06495 [INSPIRE].
- [27] J. Baglio, A. Djouadi and J. Quevillon, Prospects for Higgs physics at energies up to 100 TeV, arXiv:1511.07853 [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Hashemi, M. Krawczyk, S. Najjari and A.F. Zarnecki, Production of inert scalars at the high energy e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders, arXiv:1512.01175 [INSPIRE].
- [29] R. Contino et al., *Physics at a 100 TeV pp collider: Higgs and EW symmetry breaking studies*, arXiv:1606.09408 [INSPIRE].
- [30] G.C. Branco, P.M. Ferreira, L. Lavoura, M.N. Rebelo, M. Sher and J.P. Silva, Theory and phenomenology of two-Higgs-doublet models, Phys. Rept. 516 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1106.0034] [INSPIRE].
- [31] N. Craig, F. D'Eramo, P. Draper, S. Thomas and H. Zhang, The hunt for the rest of the Higgs bosons, JHEP 06 (2015) 137 [arXiv:1504.04630] [INSPIRE].

- [32] J. Hajer, Y.-Y. Li, T. Liu and J.F.H. Shiu, *Heavy Higgs bosons at* 14 *TeV and* 100 *TeV*, *JHEP* 11 (2015) 124 [arXiv:1504.07617] [INSPIRE].
- [33] N. Chen, J. Li and Y. Liu, *LHC searches for heavy neutral Higgs bosons with a top jet substructure analysis*, *Phys. Rev.* **D** 93 (2016) 095013 [arXiv:1509.03848] [INSPIRE].
- [34] N. Craig, J. Hajer, Y.-Y. Li, T. Liu and H. Zhang, Heavy Higgs bosons at low tan β: from the LHC to 100 TeV, arXiv:1605.08744 [INSPIRE].
- [35] N. Chen, J. Li, Y. Liu and Z. Liu, *LHC searches for the CP-odd Higgs by the jet substructure analysis*, *Phys. Rev.* D 91 (2015) 075002 [arXiv:1410.4447] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Yang and Q.-S. Yan, Searching for heavy charged Higgs boson with jet substructure at the LHC, JHEP 02 (2012) 074 [arXiv:1111.4530] [INSPIRE].
- [37] N. Craig, J. Galloway and S. Thomas, *Searching for signs of the second Higgs doublet*, arXiv:1305.2424 [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Djouadi, L. Maiani, A. Polosa, J. Quevillon and V. Riquer, Fully covering the MSSM Higgs sector at the LHC, JHEP 06 (2015) 168 [arXiv:1502.05653] [INSPIRE].
- [39] T.D. Lee, *CP* nonconservation and spontaneous symmetry breaking, *Phys. Rept.* **9** (1974) 143 [INSPIRE].
- [40] L. Bian, T. Liu and J. Shu, Cancellations between two-loop contributions to the electron electric dipole moment with a CP-violating Higgs sector, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 021801 [arXiv:1411.6695] [INSPIRE].
- [41] L. Lavoura and J.P. Silva, Fundamental CP-violating quantities in a SU(2) × U(1) model with many Higgs doublets, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 4619 [hep-ph/9404276] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A. Barroso, P.M. Ferreira, R. Santos and J.P. Silva, Probing the scalar-pseudoscalar mixing in the 125 GeV Higgs particle with current data, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 015022
   [arXiv:1205.4247] [INSPIRE].
- [43] J. Brod, U. Haisch and J. Zupan, Constraints on CP-violating Higgs couplings to the third generation, JHEP 11 (2013) 180 [arXiv:1310.1385] [INSPIRE].
- [44] Y.-n. Mao and S.-h. Zhu, Lightness of Higgs boson and spontaneous CP-violation in the Lee model, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 115024 [arXiv:1409.6844] [INSPIRE].
- [45] Y.-n. Mao and S.-h. Zhu, Lightness of Higgs boson and spontaneous CP-violation in the Lee model: an alternative scenario, arXiv:1602.00209 [INSPIRE].
- [46] M. Pospelov and A. Ritz, *Electric dipole moments as probes of new physics*, *Annals Phys.* 318 (2005) 119 [hep-ph/0504231] [INSPIRE].
- [47] J. Engel, M.J. Ramsey-Musolf and U. van Kolck, Electric dipole moments of nucleons, nuclei and atoms: the standard model and beyond, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 71 (2013) 21 [arXiv:1303.2371] [INSPIRE].
- [48] ACME collaboration, J. Baron et al., Order of magnitude smaller limit on the electric dipole moment of the electron, Science 343 (2014) 269 [arXiv:1310.7534] [INSPIRE].
- [49] W. Dekens et al., Unraveling models of CP-violation through electric dipole moments of light nuclei, JHEP 07 (2014) 069 [arXiv:1404.6082] [INSPIRE].
- [50] W. Khater and P. Osland, CP violation in top quark production at the LHC and two Higgs doublet models, Nucl. Phys. B 661 (2003) 209 [hep-ph/0302004] [INSPIRE].

- [51] L. Bian and N. Chen, The CP violation beyond the SM Higgs and theoretical predictions of electric dipole moment, arXiv:1608.07975 [INSPIRE].
- [52] J. Shu and Y. Zhang, Impact of a CP-violating Higgs sector: from LHC to baryogenesis, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 091801 [arXiv:1304.0773] [INSPIRE].
- [53] S. Inoue, M.J. Ramsey-Musolf and Y. Zhang, CP-violating phenomenology of flavor conserving two Higgs doublet models, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 115023 [arXiv:1403.4257]
   [INSPIRE].
- [54] C.-Y. Chen, S. Dawson and Y. Zhang, Complementarity of LHC and EDMs for exploring Higgs CP-violation, JHEP 06 (2015) 056 [arXiv:1503.01114] [INSPIRE].
- [55] R. Harnik, A. Martin, T. Okui, R. Primulando and F. Yu, Measuring CP-violation in  $h \to \tau^+ \tau^-$  at colliders, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 076009 [arXiv:1308.1094] [INSPIRE].
- [56] S. Berge, W. Bernreuther and H. Spiesberger, *Higgs CP properties using the*  $\tau$  *decay modes at the ILC, Phys. Lett.* **B 727** (2013) 488 [arXiv:1308.2674] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Askew, P. Jaiswal, T. Okui, H.B. Prosper and N. Sato, Prospect for measuring the CP phase in the hττ coupling at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 075014 [arXiv:1501.03156] [INSPIRE].
- [58] G. Li, H.-R. Wang and S.-h. Zhu, Probing CP-violating  $h\bar{t}t$  coupling in  $e^+e^- \rightarrow h\gamma$ , Phys. Rev. **D** 93 (2016) 055038 [arXiv:1506.06453] [INSPIRE].
- [59] M.R. Buckley and D. Goncalves, Boosting the direct CP measurement of the Higgs-top coupling, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 091801 [arXiv:1507.07926] [INSPIRE].
- [60] S. Berge, W. Bernreuther and S. Kirchner, Prospects of constraining the Higgs boson's CP nature in the tau decay channel at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 096012 [arXiv:1510.03850] [INSPIRE].
- [61] K. Hagiwara, K. Ma and H. Yokoya, Probing CP-violation in e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> production of the Higgs boson and toponia, JHEP 06 (2016) 048 [arXiv:1602.00684] [INSPIRE].
- [62] S.D. Rindani, P. Sharma and A. Shivaji, Unraveling the CP phase of top-Higgs coupling in associated production at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 761 (2016) 25 [arXiv:1605.03806]
   [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Pilaftsis and C.E.M. Wagner, Higgs bosons in the minimal supersymmetric standard model with explicit CP-violation, Nucl. Phys. B 553 (1999) 3 [hep-ph/9902371] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Carena, J.R. Ellis, S. Mrenna, A. Pilaftsis and C.E.M. Wagner, Collider probes of the MSSM Higgs sector with explicit CP-violation, Nucl. Phys. B 659 (2003) 145 [hep-ph/0211467] [INSPIRE].
- [65] P. Osland, P.N. Pandita and L. Selbuz, Trilinear Higgs couplings in the two Higgs doublet model with CP-violation, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 015003 [arXiv:0802.0060] [INSPIRE].
- [66] LHC HIGGS CROSS SECTION WORKING GROUP collaboration, S. Dittmaier et al., Handbook of LHC Higgs cross sections: 1. Inclusive observables, arXiv:1101.0593 [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Denner, S. Heinemeyer, I. Puljak, D. Rebuzzi and M. Spira, Standard model Higgs-boson branching ratios with uncertainties, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1753 [arXiv:1107.5909] [INSPIRE].
- [68] A. Freitas and P. Schwaller, Higgs CP properties from early LHC data, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 055014 [arXiv:1211.1980] [INSPIRE].

- [69] A. Celis, V. Ilisie and A. Pich, LHC constraints on two-Higgs doublet models, JHEP 07 (2013) 053 [arXiv:1302.4022] [INSPIRE].
- [70] A. Djouadi and G. Moreau, The couplings of the Higgs boson and its CP properties from fits of the signal strengths and their ratios at the 7 + 8 TeV LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2512 [arXiv:1303.6591] [INSPIRE].
- [71] W.-F. Chang, W.-P. Pan and F. Xu, Effective gauge-Higgs operators analysis of new physics associated with the Higgs boson, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 033004 [arXiv:1303.7035]
   [INSPIRE].
- [72] D. Fontes, J.C. Romão and J.P. Silva, A reappraisal of the wrong-sign hbb coupling and the study of  $h \to Z\gamma$ , Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 015021 [arXiv:1406.6080] [INSPIRE].
- [73] D. Fontes, J.C. Romão and J.P. Silva,  $h \to Z\gamma$  in the complex two Higgs doublet model, JHEP 12 (2014) 043 [arXiv:1408.2534] [INSPIRE].
- [74] D. Fontes, J.C. Romão, R. Santos and J.P. Silva, Large pseudoscalar Yukawa couplings in the complex 2HDM, JHEP 06 (2015) 060 [arXiv:1502.01720] [INSPIRE].
- [75] D. Fontes, J.C. Romão, R. Santos and J.P. Silva, Undoubtable signs of CP-violation in Higgs boson decays at the LHC run 2, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 055014 [arXiv:1506.06755]
   [INSPIRE].
- [76] ATLAS collaboration, Search for the bb decay of the standard model Higgs boson in associated W/ZH production with the ATLAS detector, ATLAS-CONF-2013-079 (2013).
- [77] ATLAS collaboration, Updated coupling measurements of the Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector using up to  $25 \, \text{fb}^{-1}$  of proton-proton collision data, ATLAS-CONF-2014-009 (2014).
- [78] ATLAS collaboration, Measurement of Higgs boson production in the diphoton decay channel in pp collisions at center-of-mass energies of 7 and 8 TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 112015 [arXiv:1408.7084] [INSPIRE].
- [79] ATLAS collaboration, Observation and measurement of Higgs boson decays to WW<sup>\*</sup> with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 012006 [arXiv:1412.2641] [INSPIRE].
- [80] CMS collaboration, Precise determination of the mass of the Higgs boson and tests of compatibility of its couplings with the standard model predictions using proton collisions at 7 and 8 TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 212 [arXiv:1412.8662] [INSPIRE].
- [81] ATLAS collaboration, Evidence for the Higgs-boson Yukawa coupling to tau leptons with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 04 (2015) 117 [arXiv:1501.04943] [INSPIRE].
- [82] S.M. Barr and A. Zee, Electric dipole moment of the electron and of the neutron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 65 (1990) 21 [Erratum ibid. 65 (1990) 2920] [INSPIRE].
- [83] D. Chang, W. Y. Keung and T.C. Yuan, Two loop bosonic contribution to the electron electric dipole moment, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) R14 [INSPIRE].
- [84] D. Chang, W.-Y. Keung and A. Pilaftsis, New two loop contribution to electric dipole moment in supersymmetric theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999) 900 [Erratum ibid. 83 (1999) 3972] [hep-ph/9811202] [INSPIRE].
- [85] T. Abe, J. Hisano, T. Kitahara and K. Tobioka, Gauge invariant Barr-Zee type contributions to fermionic EDMs in the two-Higgs doublet models, JHEP 01 (2014) 106 [Erratum ibid. 04 (2016) 161] [arXiv:1311.4704] [INSPIRE].
- [86] A. Arhrib, Unitarity constraints on scalar parameters of the standard and two Higgs doublets model, hep-ph/0012353 [INSPIRE].

- [87] S. Kanemura and K. Yagyu, Unitarity bound in the most general two Higgs doublet model, Phys. Lett. B 751 (2015) 289 [arXiv:1509.06060] [INSPIRE].
- [88] CMS collaboration, Search for a Higgs boson in the mass range from 145 to 1000 GeV decaying to a pair of W or Z bosons, JHEP 10 (2015) 144 [arXiv:1504.00936] [INSPIRE].
- [89] ATLAS collaboration, Search for an additional, heavy Higgs boson in the  $H \rightarrow ZZ$  decay channel at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV in pp collision data with the ATLAS detector, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 45 [arXiv:1507.05930] [INSPIRE].
- [90] ATLAS collaboration, Search for Higgs boson pair production in the  $\gamma\gamma b\bar{b}$  final state using pp collision data at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV from the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. Lett. **114** (2015) 081802 [arXiv:1406.5053] [INSPIRE].
- [91] CMS collaboration, Search for two Higgs bosons in final states containing two photons and two bottom quarks, submitted to, Phys. Rev. D, arXiv:1603.06896 [INSPIRE].
- [92] A. Wahab El Kaffas, P. Osland and O.M. Ogreid, Constraining the two-Higgs-doublet-model parameter space, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 095001 [arXiv:0706.2997] [INSPIRE].
- [93] F. Mahmoudi and O. Stal, Flavor constraints on the two-Higgs-doublet model with general Yukawa couplings, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 035016 [arXiv:0907.1791] [INSPIRE].
- [94] CMS collaboration, Searches for a heavy scalar boson H decaying to a pair of 125 GeV Higgs bosons hh or for a heavy pseudoscalar boson A decaying to Zh, in the final states with  $h \to \tau \tau$ , Phys. Lett. **B** 755 (2016) 217 [arXiv:1510.01181] [INSPIRE].
- [95] ATLAS collaboration, Search for a CP-odd Higgs boson decaying to Zh in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Lett. B 744 (2015) 163 [arXiv:1502.04478] [INSPIRE].
- [96] W. Grimus, L. Lavoura, O.M. Ogreid and P. Osland, The oblique parameters in multi-Higgs-doublet models, Nucl. Phys. B 801 (2008) 81 [arXiv:0802.4353] [INSPIRE].
- [97] H.-J. He, N. Polonsky and S.-f. Su, Extra families, Higgs spectrum and oblique corrections, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 053004 [hep-ph/0102144] [INSPIRE].
- [98] H.E. Haber and D. O'Neil, Basis-independent methods for the two-Higgs-doublet model III: The CP-conserving limit, custodial symmetry and the oblique parameters S, T, U, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 055017 [arXiv:1011.6188] [INSPIRE].
- [99] A.E. Cárcamo Hernández, S. Kovalenko and I. Schmidt, Precision measurements constraints on the number of Higgs doublets, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 095014 [arXiv:1503.03026] [INSPIRE].
- [100] A.E. Cárcamo Hernández, I. de Medeiros Varzielas and E. Schumacher, Fermion and scalar phenomenology of a two-Higgs-doublet model with S<sub>3</sub>, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 016003 [arXiv:1509.02083] [INSPIRE].
- [101] GFITTER GROUP collaboration, M. Baak et al., The global electroweak fit at NNLO and prospects for the LHC and ILC, Eur. Phys. J. C 74 (2014) 3046 [arXiv:1407.3792]
   [INSPIRE].
- [102] E.W.N. Glover and J.J. van der Bij, Higgs boson pair production via gluon fusion, Nucl. Phys. B 309 (1988) 282 [INSPIRE].
- [103] T. Plehn, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, Pair production of neutral Higgs particles in gluon-gluon collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 479 (1996) 46 [Erratum ibid. B 531 (1998) 655] [hep-ph/9603205] [INSPIRE].

- [104] S. Dawson, S. Dittmaier and M. Spira, Neutral Higgs boson pair production at hadron colliders: QCD corrections, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 115012 [hep-ph/9805244] [INSPIRE].
- [105] A. Djouadi, W. Kilian, M. Muhlleitner and P.M. Zerwas, Production of neutral Higgs boson pairs at LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 10 (1999) 45 [hep-ph/9904287] [INSPIRE].
- [106] J. Alwall et al., The automated computation of tree-level and next-to-leading order differential cross sections and their matching to parton shower simulations, JHEP 07 (2014) 079 [arXiv:1405.0301] [INSPIRE].
- [107] N.D. Christensen and C. Duhr, FeynRules Feynman rules made easy, Comput. Phys. Commun. 180 (2009) 1614 [arXiv:0806.4194] [INSPIRE].
- [108] CMS collaboration, Search for a pseudoscalar boson decaying into a Z boson and the 125 GeV Higgs boson in  $\ell^+\ell^-b\bar{b}$  final states, Phys. Lett. B 748 (2015) 221 [arXiv:1504.04710] [INSPIRE].
- [109] CMS collaboration, Search for a standard-model-like Higgs boson with a mass in the range 145 to 1000 GeV at the LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2469 [arXiv:1304.0213]
   [INSPIRE].
- [110] ATLAS collaboration, Search for a high-mass Higgs boson in the  $H \to WW \to l\nu l\nu$  decay channel with the ATLAS detector using 21 fb<sup>-1</sup> of proton-proton collision data, ATLAS-CONF-2013-067 (2013).